
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

Democracy and Standards Committee 

A meeting of the Democracy and Standards Committee will be held at 
the Council Chamber, The Guildhall, St Giles Street, Northampton, 

NN1 1DE on Thursday 29 July 2021 at 6.00 pm 
 

 

Agenda 
  

1.  Apologies for Absence  

 

2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 

 

3.  Chairman's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chairman. 

 

4.  Constitution Review (Pages 5 - 18) 

 

5.  Statistics - Code of Conduct Arrangements (Pages 19 - 22) 

 

6.  Local Government Boundary Review (Pages 23 - 30) 

 

7.  Urgent Business  

The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
21 July 2021 
 
 

Democracy and Standards Committee Members: 

Councillor Suresh Patel (Chair) 

 

Councillor Andrew Grant (Vice-Chair) 

 

Councillor Fiona Cole Councillor Daniel Cribbin 

Councillor Gareth Eales Councillor Jonathan Harris 

Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift Councillor Andrew Kilbride 

Councillor Laura Stevenson  
 
 

Information about this Agenda 

 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start 
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 

Page 2

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Tracy Tiff & Marina Watkins via 
the following:  
 
Tel: 01604 837408 & 01327 302236 
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
One Angel Square 
Angel Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED 
 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item no: 4 
 
 
 

 
 

 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
29 July 2021 

 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
Monitoring Officer  Catherine Whitehead  

Section 151 Officer    

Other Director The Executive Leadership 
Team have been consulted on 
this report. 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft terms of reference of the Constitution Review Task and Finish Group 
 
Appendix B – Constitution review proposal 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to ask the Democracy and Standards Committee to undertake a 

review of the Constitution.  
 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 This report seeks to establish and commence a Constitution Review process to be conducted 

through a Task and Finish Group of the Committee. 
 
3. Recommendations 

 

Report Title 
 

Constitution Review 
 

Report Author Geoff Wild, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
geoff.wild@westnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:geoff.wild@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 
 

a) establishes a Constitution Review Task and Finish Group to conduct a review of the Council’s 
Constitution and subsequently make recommendations to the Committee for onward 
recommendation to Cabinet and Full Council; 

b) appoints Members of the Committee to the Task and Finish Group in accordance with the 
recommended composition set out at paragraph 6.3; 

c) agrees the draft Terms of Reference of the Constitution Review Task and Finish Group as set 
out in Appendix A; 

d) endorses the proposal set out in Appendix B and the review principles set out in paragraph 
6.5; 

e) approves a consultation programme for the Constitution review as set out at paragraph [6.6]; 
f) notes the anticipated timeframe for the review as set out at paragraph 6.8. 
 

4. Reasons for Recommendations  

 
4.1 The reasons for the recommendations are as follows: 

 
a) A review of the Constitution by the Democracy and Standards Committee was agreed 

by Full Council on 20th May 2021 and Cabinet on 8th June 2021.  
b) Conducting a review of the Constitution as proposed will help to ensure that it is legally 

compliant, complete, reflects the character and culture of the authority and supports 
decision making. 

 
5. Report Background 

 
5.1 West Northamptonshire Council was established on 1 April 2021 as a result of local government 

reorganisation that took place pursuant to the Northamptonshire Structural Changes Order 2021. 
 

5.2 A West Northamptonshire Shadow Authority was established in the period leading up to 1 April 
2021 to ensure the new unitary authority was ready to operate once established. One of the tasks 
undertaken by the Shadow Authority was the development of a Constitution for the new 
authority. 
 

5.3 The Shadow Authority established a Member Task and Finish Group to progress the drafting of 
the Constitution. The draft Constitution was approved by the Shadow Executive on 21 February 
2021 and the Shadow Authority gave final approval to the draft Constitution on 10 March 2021.  
 

5.4 At the first West Northamptonshire Full Council meeting on 20 May 2021, several amendments 
to the Constitution were agreed. Council also resolved that: “A further review of the Constitution 
be carried out by the Democracy and Standards Committee and referred to a future meeting of 
Council”. On 8 June 2021 Cabinet made the same resolution and approved those amendments 
that related to executive matters. 

 
6. Issues and Choices 

 
6.1 It was necessary for the Constitution to be developed relatively quickly during the shadow 

period before the authority came into existence, with a view to putting a core instrument in Page 6



 

place. A further detailed review of this fundamental governance document at this stage will be 
beneficial for several reasons: 
 

a) It will enable the Constitution to be improved to reflect the wishes of the Council during 
the first year of its operation; 

b) It will take account of consultation responses from various stakeholders, e.g. senior 
officers, elected members, parish councils, third sector organisations, the business 
community and the general public; 

c) It will also present an opportunity to ensure that the Constitution is entirely compliant 
with all current legal requirements, that the content is complete and the various 
components are properly cross-referenced. 

 
6.2 It is therefore recommended that the Committee establish a Constitution Review Task and 

Finish Group to carry out a review of the Constitution supported by relevant officers. The Task 
and Finish Group would make recommendations about amendments to the Constitution to the 
Committee, which would then make onward recommendations to Cabinet and Council. Cabinet 
and Council would be asked to approve the recommended amendments to the Constitution in 
respect of those elements that each body has responsibility for, with Full Council being 
responsible for final formal approval of an amended Constitution. 
 

6.3 It is recommended that the Task and Finish Group be composed of three members of the 
Committee. 

 
6.4 It is recommended that the Committee approves the draft Terms of Reference of the 

Constitution Review Task and Finish Group as set out at Appendix A. 
 

6.5 When the Shadow Council was developing the Constitution, the Member Task and Finish Group 
agreed the following principles, which enabled Members and officers to work together 
collaboratively to frame a new Constitution: 
 

 Transparency – makes it clear what our rules are 

 Accountability – explains clearly who makes which decisions 

 Efficiency – keeps the cost of decision making down  

 Accessibility – is accessible to all 

 Inclusivity – encourages public participation 

 Concise – describes what it needs to succinctly. 
 

It is recommended that the Committee approves these same principles for application in this 
current Constitution review.   

 
6.6 It is recommended that the Committee notes the anticipated timetable for the review set out 

below. The timeframe shown balances the need to ensure that the Constitution is up to date 
and fit for purpose as soon as possible against the need to carry out a thorough and detailed 
review.  It is recognised that the timetable may need to change as the review progresses.   
 

July 2021 29th – Democracy & Standards Committee establishes Task & Finish Group, approves 
Terms of Reference, endorses constitution review principles, and approves 
consultation programme. Page 7



 

August 2021 1st-31st - Consultation on revisions to the Constitution in accordance with 
consultation programme agreed by the Democracy and Standards Committee. 

September 
2021 

1st-23th - Task & Finish Group reviews consultation responses and makes 
recommendations for amendments in conjunction with officers supporting the Task 
and Finish Group.  
30th - Democracy & Standards Committee reviews findings and confirms 
recommendations. 

October 
2021 

Executive Leadership Team inputs and reviews consultation responses and proposed 
amendments to the Constitution. 

November 
2021 

9th – Cabinet reviews and comments on proposed amendments to the Constitution. 
25th – Democracy & Standards Committee approves report recommending changes 
to Constitution for approval at full Council. 

December 
2021 

2nd – Full Council gives formal approval of changes to the Constitution. 

 
6.7 The alternative choices are to not conduct a Constitution review, to commence the review at a 

later date, or in accordance with a different timetable. These options are not recommended as a 
need for a review has been identified and it is important to ensure the Constitution is fit for the 
new Council’s purposes and compliant with all current legal requirements as soon as possible. 

 
7. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
7.1 Resources and Financial 

 
7.1.1 There are staffing implications in terms of the officer time required to support the Constitution 

review process. However, these requirements can be met with existing staff resources. 
 

7.1.2 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of the Constitution review process. 
 
7.2 Legal  

 
7.2.1 Under Section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000, every local authority is under a duty to 

prepare and keep up to date its Constitution.  Section 9P requires the Constitution to contain: 
 

a) a copy of the authority's standing orders for the time being, 
b) a copy of the authority's code of conduct (if any) for the time being under section 28 of 

the Localism Act 2011, 
c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct, and 
d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate. 

 
7.2.2 Regular review of the Constitution helps to ensure these legal requirements are met. 
 
7.3 Risk  

 
7.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from this report. Conducting a Constitution review process 

helps to reduce any risks that could arise as a result of the Constitution not properly supporting 
decision making and delivery of Council services.   

 Page 8

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/search/enhRunRemoteLink.do?linkInfo=F%23GB%23UK_ACTS%23sect%2528%25num%252011_20a%25section%2528%25&A=0.9218778827993066&backKey=20_T260100075&service=citation&ersKey=23_T260100068&langcountry=GB


 

7.4 Consultation  
 

7.4.1 There are no consultation implications arising from this report. The report does set out a 
recommended programme for stakeholder consultation as part of the Constitution Review 
process. 

 
7.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
7.5.1 Not applicable to this report. 
 
7.6 Climate Impact 

 
7.6.1 No climate or environmental impacts have been identified as arising from this report. 
 
7.7 Community Impact 

 
7.7.1 There are no direct community impacts arising from this report. However, any specific 

community impacts that arise from amendments to the Constitution will be considered at the 
time recommendations for amendments are made. 
 

8. Background Papers 

 
8.1 None. 
  

Page 9



 

APPENDIX A 
Democracy and Standards Committee 

 
Constitution Review Task and Finish Group 

 
DRAFT TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
In accordance with the review principles approved by the Democracy and Standards Committee: 

 
1. To identify, in conjunction with officers, areas of the Constitution that require review and 

consider proposed amendments.  
 
2. To conduct a consultation exercise on changes to the Constitution with those stakeholders 

identified in the consultation programme agreed by the Democracy and Standards Committee. 
 
3. To review consultation responses and consider any necessary amendments to the Constitution 

arising from them. 
 
4. To report to the Democracy and Standards Committee recommending amendments to the 

Constitution for onward recommendation by the Committee to Cabinet and Council. 
  

Page 10



 

APPENDIX B 
 

CONSTITUTION REVIEW PROPOSAL 
 
Introduction 
A council’s Constitution should primarily be a locally driven document that reflects the character and 
culture of the organisation. It should facilitate council business, deliver consistent, efficient and effective 
decision-making and enable good governance. It should not create overly bureaucratic procedures but 
promote transparency, efficiency and democratic accountability. 
 
Background 
West Northamptonshire Council's Constitution was introduced at short notice during the shadow 
authority period, with a view to putting a core instrument in place. This was to be followed by a more 
detailed and thorough review once the new authority was up and running, to ensure the Constitution’s 
legal compliance and completeness. 
 
The Council's Constitution can be found using the following link: 
https://cms.westnorthants.gov.uk/media/79/download 
 
Legislation 
Every local authority is under a duty to prepare and keep up to date its Constitution under s.9P of the 
Local Government Act 2000. 
 
The Constitution must contain: 
 

 the standing orders/procedure rules 

 the members' code of conduct 

 such information as the Secretary of State may direct 

 such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate 
 
 
Constitutions must be available for inspection at all reasonable hours by members of the public and 
supplied to anyone who asks for a copy on payment of a reasonable fee. 
Under s.135 Local Government Act 1972, every local authority must make standing orders with respect 
to the making of contracts for the supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works.  
 
Under sections 8 and 20 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Secretary of State may by 
regulations require local authorities to incorporate in standing orders relating to their staff, meetings 
and proceedings. Accordingly, the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 1993, the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 and the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 and 2015, all require certain standing orders relating to staff 
and council proceedings to be included in the Constitution. 
 
Furthermore, the Secretary of State issued guidance in the form of the Local Government Act 2000 
(Constitutions)(England) Direction in December 2000, which required over 80 minimum requirements 
to be included within Constitutions. West Northamptonshire Council’s compliance with these is outlined 
in the table below: 
 Page 11

https://cms.westnorthants.gov.uk/media/79/download
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/part/1A/chapter/5/crossheading/local-authority-constitution
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/part/1A/chapter/5/crossheading/local-authority-constitution
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/135
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/8
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/duty-to-adopt-certain-procedural-standing-orders
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1993/202/part/III/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/3384/note/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/165/note/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/881/note/made


 

 Direction Requirement Relevant part of current 
Constitution 

1. A summary and explanation of the purpose and content of the 
Constitution 

Part 1.1 

2. A description of the composition of the council, the scheme of 
ordinary elections for members of the council and their terms 
of office 

Part 1.1 

3. A description of the principal roles and functions of the 
members of the council under executive arrangements, 
including the rights and duties of those members 

Part 1.1 
Part 8.1 

4. The scheme of allowances for members of the authority drawn 
up in accordance with regulations made under s.18 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 

Part 8.6 
Scheme of Allowances needs 
to be inserted. 

5. A description of the rights and responsibilities of inhabitants of 
the authority's area including: 
i. their rights to vote in elections for the return of members 

of the authority 
ii. their rights to access to information about the authority's 

activities 
iii. their rights of access to meetings of the council, its 

committees and sub-committees and any joint committees 
established with any other authority and 

iv. their rights of access to meetings of the executive and 
committees of the executive 

Part 5.4 

6. A description of the roles of the authority itself under executive 
arrangements, including: 
i. the functions which may be exercised only by full Council 

or which may to some extent be exercised only by full 
Council (including, in the case of a local authority operating 
executive arrangements, any plans and strategies which 
are subject to approval or adoption by full Council by virtue 
of reg.5 and Sch.4 para.1 of the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000) and 

ii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 
meetings of full Council, whether specified in the 
authority's standing orders or otherwise 

Part 3 
Part 5 

7. A description of the roles and functions of the chairman of the 
council 

Part 1.13 
Part 3.2 (para.6) 
Part 8 (Part D) 
Suggest amalgamate all 
references into one place. 

8. A  description of the functions of the local authority executive 
which are exercisable by individual members of the executive 
stating, as respects each function, the name of the member by 
whom it is exercisable 

Part 5 
A table of Cabinet members 
and their portfolios needs to 
be inserted. 

Page 12



 

9. A description of the functions of the local authority executive 
that are exercisable by the executive collectively or a 
committee of the executive stating, as respects each function, 
the membership of the body by who it is exercisable 

Part 5 
Description needs to be 
inserted. 

10. A description of those powers of the executive which for the 
time being are exercisable by an officer, stating the title of the 
officer by whom each of the powers so specified is exercisable, 
other than any power exercisable by the officer for a specified 
period not exceeding six months 

Part 9.2 
Need to distinguish between 
Executive and Non-Executive 
officer delegations. 
Need to allocate Local 
Choice Functions. 
Need to review and update 
List of Proper Officers. 

11. A description of the arrangements for the operation of 
overview and scrutiny committees, including: 
i. the terms of reference and membership of those 

committees and any rules governing the exercise of their 
functions and 

ii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 
meetings of those committees, whether specified in the 
authority's standing orders or otherwise 

Part 7 
Terms of reference and 
membership of the three 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees need to be 
inserted. 

12. A description of the roles of the executive, committees of the 
executive and members of the executive including: 
i. the roles, functions, rights, responsibilities and duties of 

members of the executive 
ii. in the case of a leader and cabinet form of executive, any 

rules governing the election of the executive leader 
iii. any rules governing the appointment or dismissal of 

members of the executive 
iv. any provisions in the executive arrangements with respect 

to the quorum, proceedings and location of meetings of 
the executive 

v. any provisions in the executive arrangements with respect 
to the quorum, proceedings and location of meetings of 
any committees of the executive 

vi. any provisions in the executive arrangements with respect 
to the appointment of committees of the executive 

Part 5 
Part 8 (Parts B and C) 

13. A description of the roles of any committees or sub-committees 
appointed by the authority in accordance with s.101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972, including: 
i. the membership, terms of reference and functions of such 

committees or sub-committees and 
ii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 

meetings of those committees or sub-committees, 
whether specified in the authority's standing orders or 
otherwise 

Part 4 

Page 13



 

14. A description of those powers of the council which for the time 
being are exercisable by an officer, stating the title of the 
officer by whom each of the powers so specified is exercisable, 
other than any power exercisable by the officer for a specified 
period not exceeding six months 

Part 9.2 
Need to distinguish between 
Executive and Non-Executive 
officer delegations. 
Need to allocate Local 
Choice Functions. 
Need to review and update 
List of Proper Officers. 

15. A description of the roles of the local authority's Standards 
Committee and any parish council sub-committee of the 
Standards Committee appointed in accordance with ss.53 or 55 
of the Act, including: 
i. the membership, terms of reference and functions of that 

committee or sub-committee and 
ii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 

meetings of that committee or sub-committee, whether 
specified in the authority's standing orders or otherwise 

Part 4.4 

16. A description of the roles of any area committees appointed by 
the authority to exercise functions in accordance with reg.16A 
of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990 or, as the case may be, s.18 of the Act and the 
Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2000, including: 

i. the membership, terms of reference and functions of such 
committees and 

ii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 
meetings of those committees, whether specified in the 
authority's standing orders or otherwise 

Part 6 
Need to include 
membership of Shared 
Services Joint Committee, 
and Police, Crime and Fire 
Panel. 

17. A description of any joint arrangements made with any other 
local authorities under s.101(5) of the Local Government Act 
1972, including: 
i. the terms of those arrangements 
ii. the membership, terms of reference and functions of any 

joint committees established under those arrangements 
and  

iii. any rules governing the conduct and proceedings of 
meetings of those joint committees, whether specified in 
the authority's standing orders or otherwise 

Part 6 
Need to include 
membership of Shared 
Services Joint Committee, 
and Police, Crime and Fire 
Panel. 

18. A description of any arrangements made with another local 
authority for the discharge of functions by that other local 
authority or the executive of that other local authority in 
accordance with s.101(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 
or, as the case may be, Local Authorities (Arrangements for the 
Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 2000 

Part 6 

19. A description of the roles of officers of the local authority, 
including: 
i. the management structure for officers of the authority 

Part 8.4 
Part 9.5 and 9.7 
Need to incorporate at Part 
9.5 (para.3.5d) the Page 14



 

ii. any arrangements made under s.101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 or, as the case may be, ss.14, 15 or 
16 of the Act for the discharge of functions by officers of 
the authority 

iii. the roles and functions of the head of paid service, 
monitoring officer and chief finance officer 

iv. the code of conduct for local government employees 
issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with s.82 of 
the Act 

v. any rules governing the recruitment, appointment, 
dismissal and disciplinary action of officers of the authority 

vi. any protocol established by the authority in respect of 
relationships between members and officers 

provisions of the Standing 
Orders Regulations into the 
Employment Procedure 
Rules. 

20. A description of the arrangements the authority has in place for 
access of the public, members of the authority and officers of 
the authority to meetings of the authority, committees and 
sub- committees, joint committees established with any other 
local authority, the executive and committees of the executive 

Part 2 
Part 5.4 

21. A description of the arrangements the authority has in place for 
access of the public, members of the authority and officers of 
the authority to information about the decisions made or to be 
made by or in respect of local authority's functions and 
activities 

Part 2 
Part 5.4 

22. A register stating: 
i. the name and address of every member of the local 

authority executive for the time being and the division (if 
any) which they represent and 

ii. the name of every member of each committee of the local 
authority's executive for the time being 

Need to insert a link to the 
councillors and committees 
section on the website. 

23. A description of the rules and procedures for the management 
of its financial, contractual and legal affairs, including: 
i. procedures for auditing the local authority; 
ii. the local authority's financial rules or regulations, whether 

specified in the authority's standing orders or otherwise; 
iii. rules, regulations and procedures in respect of contracts 

and procurement, including authentication of documents, 
whether specified in the authority's standing orders or 
otherwise and 

iv. rules and procedures in respect of legal proceedings 
brought by and against the local authority 

Part 9.2, 9.6 and 9.7 

24. A description of the register of interests of members and co-
opted members of the authority required under s.81 of the Act, 
together with the procedures for publicising, maintaining and 
updating that register 

Part 8.2 (Section 3) 
Need to add a description of 
the register and reference to 
the website where it is 
published. 

25. A description of the rules and procedures for review, revision, 
suspension and interpretation of the authority’s Constitution 
and executive arrangements 

Part 3 (para.50) 
Part 4 (para.4.4.2.a) 
Part 9.2 (para.12) Page 15



 

26. The Code of Conduct for Members Part 8.2 

 Legislative Requirement Relevant part of current 
Constitution 

s.135 
LGA 
1972 

Standing orders with respect to the making of contracts for the 
supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works 

Part 9.6 

SO 
Regs 
1993 

Standing orders dealing with the appointment of chief officers. 
 
Standing orders dealing with the recording of votes and signing 
of minutes. 

Need to incorporate the 
provisions of the Standing 
Orders Regulations into the 
Employment Procedure 
Rules at Part 9.5. 
Part 3.2 (para.33) 
Need to add reference to 
not signing minutes at 
extraordinary meetings. 

SO 
Regs 
2001 

Standing orders dealing with the appointment or dismissal of, 
or the taking of disciplinary action against, the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer; 
the objection by the council to budgets, plans or strategies 
submitted by the Cabinet. 

Need to incorporate the 
provisions of the Standing 
Orders Regulations into the 
Employment Procedure 
Rules at Part 9.5. 
Part 3.4 (para.2.1) 

SO 
Regs 
2014 

Standing orders dealing with the recording of votes at budget 
meetings 

Part 3.2 (para.31) 

SO 
Regs 
2015 

Standing orders dealing with the appointment or dismissal of, 
or the taking of disciplinary action against, the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 

Need to incorporate the 
provisions of the Standing 
Orders Regulations into the 
Employment Procedure 
Rules at Part 9.5. 

 
Procedure 
The Democracy and Standards Committee has overall responsibility for reviewing the Constitution and 
recommending any proposed changes to Cabinet and Full Council for approval. 
 
The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to make consequential amendments to the Constitution 
to give effect to a lawful decision; as a direct consequence of a change made outside the council, e.g. a 
change in legislation; and to correct an error or resolve an inconsistency. All such changes are to be 
reported to Council. 
 
Proposals 
The Democracy and Standards Committee be asked to: 
 

 approve an appropriate programme of consultation with members, officers and external 
stakeholders, e.g. public, media, businesses, parish council, etc, on what changes (if any) they 
would like to see made to the Constitution and how it might be improved 

 consider recommendations from the Monitoring Officer on amendments to the Constitution 
to ensure it is lawful, fit for purpose and up-to-date  Page 16



 

 put forward recommendations to full Council for approval 
 
Ahead of this, it is recommended that the following issues be considered to ensure the new Constitution 
is legally compliant: 
 

 Compliance with the Secretary of State’s 2000 Direction (see above); 

 Clarify what documents should comprise the Policy Framework – the plans listed in the 
Functions and Responsibilities Regulations have reduced over time, but some of these are 
still included, e.g. the Annual Library Plan. Do members and officers wish to take additional 
plans and strategies to Council as well as to the Executive, without such plans having to be 
approved by Council? 

 Insert the Members’ Allowances Scheme; 

 Insert Councillor Call for Action procedures; 

 Insert details of the Community Rights; 

 Insert protocol for recording and publishing officer decisions; 

 Ensure the Officer Scheme of Delegation is up to date, understandable and   all 
encompassing. Does it distinguish sufficiently between executive and non- executive 
functions? Does it clarify sufficiently what decisions are reserved to members? 

 Insert up to date and comprehensive table of Proper Officer functions; 

 Clarify Employment Procedure Rules and insert more detailed description of roles and 
functions of statutory chief officers; 

 Clarify who would exercise or allocate executive functions in the event that a Leader is not 
elected (and so no cabinet is appointed), i.e. should Executive functions be delegated to 
the Chief Executive in the absence of a Leader and Deputy? 

 Clarify where responsibility and accountability lie for the council's involvement in 
companies, including reviewing whether officers and members act as company directors. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Item no: 5 
 

  
 
  

 

                                   

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

29 JULY 2021 
 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 

 MO   
Deputy MO 

Catherine Whitehead 
Geoff Wild 

  
28 June 2021 

S151   Martin Henry   

 
 

List of Appendices 
 
 None 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The report sets out the statistics regarding the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 

respect of the Code of Member Conduct for the Committee’s information. 
 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The West Northamptonshire Council (WNC) Constitution specifies that one of the purposes of 

the Democracy and Standards Committee is to oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct 
and the overall standards of conduct for Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and 
Town Councillors of West Northamptonshire. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report Title 
 

 STATISTICS – CODE OF CONDUCT ARRANGEMENTS  

Report Author Tracy Tiff, Deputy Democratic Services Manager,  
tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

mailto:tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

 

3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 

 
a) Notes the statistics in relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 

respect of the Code of Member Conduct; 
 

b) Receives statistical data in relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with, in 
respect of the Code of Member Conduct, twice a year.  
 

3.2 Reason for Recommendations 
 

3.2.1 The recommendations are intended to enable the Committee to receive statistical data in 
relation to the number of complaints received and dealt with in respect of the Code of Member 
Conduct and thereby enable it to carry out its Standards responsibilities effectively. 
 

4. Report Background 

 
4.1 As detailed in paragraph 2.1 above, “The Standards responsibilities of the Committee are to 

oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct and the overall standards of conduct for 
Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and Town Councillors of West 
Northamptonshire.”   Therefore, statistical data in relation to complaints received and dealt with 
will be provided to inform this role of the Committee. 
 

4.2 Details of any complaints that had been dealt with by the four predecessor councils – Daventry 
District Council, Northampton Borough Council, Northamptonshire County Council and South 
Northamptonshire Council - were provided to the Monitoring Officer and these have been 
included in the  details of complaints as provided in paragraph 4.3 below.   
 
Daventry District Council  
 
Parish Council 
 
Closed file 
 
A complaint about a Parish Councillor was received on 27 April 2021.  A resolution was reached, 
and the file was closed.  The complainant agreed that it was not in the public interest to continue 
with the complaint. 
 
Northampton Borough Council 
 
Closed files 
 
A complaint against a Borough Councillor received on 3 March 2021.  The file was closed in April 
2021 as the complainant decided to not pursue the complaint any further. 
 

Page 20



 

 

A complaint was transferred to the Monitoring Officer of West Northamptonshire Council on 30 
March 2021. The file was closed on 11 May 2021 as the subject Member is no longer a councillor. 
 
South Northants Council 
 
Live file 
 
A complaint was transferred to the Monitoring Officer of West Northamptonshire Council on 30 
March 2021.   The complainant confirmed that they wanted to pursue the complaint through the 
Code of Conduct Arrangements and will complete the prescribed form.  
 
Closed files 
 
A complaint was transferred to the Monitoring Officer of West Northamptonshire Council on 30 
March 2021.   The complaint was closed as the complainant decided not to pursue the complaint. 
 
A complaint was transferred to the Monitoring Officer of West Northamptonshire Council on 30 
March 2021.    The file was closed as the complaint was deemed as inappropriate. 
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
 
From 11 May 2021 to 28 June 2021 five complaints (three in respect of a West Northamptonshire 
councillor and two regarding Parish councillors) have been received or transferred to the 
Monitoring Officer of West Northamptonshire Council.  Two have been closed and three are live. 
 
Live complaints - West Northamptonshire Councillors 
 
The complainant contacted the Monitoring Officer on 8 April 2021 and was asked to complete 
the prescribed from should they wish to submit a formal complaint through the Code of Conduct 
Arrangements.  As of 28 June 2021, the form has not been received.  If it has not been received 
by 6 July 2021 the file will be closed. 
 
Closed files - West Northamptonshire Councillors 
 
A complaint was received on 8 April 2021 and closed on 21 June 2021. The complainant decided 
not to pursue the complaint any further.  
 
A complaint was received on 22 June 2021 and closed on 23 June 2021. The complaint was 
outside the remit of the Code of Conduct Arrangements. 
 
Live complaints - Parish Councillors 
 
A complaint was received on 8 June 2021. The complainant confirmed that they wanted to pursue 
the complaint through the Code of Conduct Arrangements and would complete the prescribed 
form. Receipt of the form is awaited. 

Page 21



 

 

A complaint was received on 11 June 2021. The complainant confirmed that they wanted to 
pursue the complaint through the Code of Conduct Arrangements and would complete the 
prescribed form. Receipt of the form is awaited. 

 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1. Members are asked to note the information provided. 

  
6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 There are no immediate financial implications arising from the proposals.   
 
6.2 Legal  
 
6.2.1 Complaints are received in accordance with the arrangements for dealing will allegations of 

breaches of the West Northamptonshire Members’ Code of Conduct and of codes adopted by 
Parish Councils within West Northamptonshire. 

 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There are none specifically. 

 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1  Not applicable. 

 
6.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
6.5. Not applicable 

 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1  There are no immediate climate implications arising from this report. 
 
6.7 Community Impact 

 
6.7.1 There are no immediate community implications arising from this report. 

 
4 Background Papers 

 
Complaints received in respect of the arrangements for dealing with allegations of breaches of the West 
Northamptonshire Members’ Code of Conduct and of Codes of Conduct adopted by Parish Councils 
within West Northamptonshire. 

 
Page 22



 

Item no: 6 
  
 
 

 
 

 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
DEMOCRACY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
29 July 2021 

 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
Monitoring Officer  Catherine Whitehead  

Section 151 Officer  Martin Henry  

Other Director Anna Earnshaw  

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Spreadsheet of variances and council size data 
Appendix B – Draft terms of reference of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group 
 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Democracy and Standards Committee about the 

process for conducting a Local Government Boundary Review. 
 

2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 This report seeks to establish a task and finish group to prepare the draft submissions on behalf 

of the Council in relation to the forthcoming Local Boundary Review which will be presented to 
the Committee and full Council. 

 
3. Recommendations 

 

Report Title 
 

Local Government Boundary Review 
 

Report Author Catherine Whitehead, Director of Legal and Democratic and 
Monitoring Officer catherine.whitehead@westnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

3.1 It is recommended that the Democracy and Standards Committee: 
 

a) establishes a Local Government Boundary Review Task and Finish Group to prepare the 
necessary submissions in relation to Council Size and Ward Boundaries when required before 
consideration by the Committee and Full Council; 

b) appoints Members of the Committee to the Task and Finish Group in accordance with the 
recommended composition set out; 

c) agrees the draft Terms of Reference of the Boundary Review Task and Finish Group as set out 
in Appendix B; 

d) notes the guidance for preparation of the submission on Council size and agrees to have 
regard to the guidance in relation to the preparation of the draft submission.  

 
4. Reasons for Recommendations  

 
4.1 The reasons for the recommendations are as follows: 

 
a) West Northamptonshire Council was established by the Northamptonshire Structural 

Changes Order 2021 which adopted the existing County Council divisions as wards for 
the new Council with an expectation that a Ward Boundary Review by the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) would follow in the first term 
of the new Council.  

b) The County Council divisions demonstrate variances in electorate per Councillor which 
had it not been for reorganisation would have triggered a Ward Boundary Review in 
West Northamptonshire.  

 
5. Report Background 

 
5.1 The ward boundaries of West Northamptonshire were set by the Structural Changes Order to 

provide 3 member wards for each of the County divisions of West Northamptonshire with a total 
of 93 members.   When a transition is undertaken in the way it has in Northamptonshire without 
a Ward Boundary Review to establish the wards for the new Council, the LGBCE will conduct a 
boundary review in the first term of the new Council to take effect at the next elections which in 
Northamptonshire will be in 2025.   
 
Electoral Variances 
 

5.2 The LGBCE will also contact Councils where the electoral variances in the area would be likely to 
trigger a review.  In West Northamptonshire an analysis of the new wards shows that there are 
3 wards which have 20% variances and a further 9 wards which have 10% variances.  The usual 
rule is a single ward with a 30% variance or more than 3 wards with a 10% variance will trigger 
the contact.  On this latter criteria the Council would have triggered a ward boundary review.  
Variances are calculated by showing the average number of electors per councillor based on the 
number of seats on the council and the total electorate.  This average is then compared with the 
actual number of electors per councillor for each of the wards.  Where there has been significant 
housebuilding the population will have gone up since the last review and therefore the number 
of electors per councillor is higher than in other wards.  The LGBCE conduct reviews to ensure 
that Councillors on any local authority are representing similar numbers of electors.  They do not 
ensure that Councillors in different local authorities are representing similar numbers of electors.  Page 24



 

The variances for West Northamptonshire are attached at Appendix 1 and these show the wards 
with the variances.   
 
The Review 
 

5.3 Once the LGBCE have decided to conduct a review they will contact the local authority to explain 
the process and discuss how the review will be conducted.  The review is conducted in two stages: 

 Council Size 

 Ward Boundaries 
Consultation will take place at each stage of the review with the Council and the public.  The 
timeframe for the review will be determined by the LGBCE. The review it self will take some time 
to complete and the results of the review will need to be published in time to ensure that 
arrangements can be made including the arrangements for polling stations etc before the 
election in 2025. The initial indication is that the submission on Council Size will need to be made 
by April 2022 with the wider ward boundary review to follow.   

 
Council size  
 

5.4 The question of Council size is dealt with first as this will enable the second stage to agree the 
number of electors per councillor.  Any number of councillors can be decided on and although 
there are large number of councillors (eg Buckinghamshire currently has 147 Councillors) where 
as some Councils have fewer than 30 Councillors.  There has been some research on the 
average number of electors per Councillor across the different types of Councils.  Unitaries for 
example tend to have a larger number of electors per Councillor than district councils.    
Appendix 1 shows the average number of electors per Councillor with different numbers of 
Councillors in West Northants.  It also shows some figures for the average number of electors 
per Councillor in other similar councils including those that have been recently transitioned to 
unitary. 
 

5.5 When the LGBCE conduct a review they will request that the Council itself and anyone else can 
make a submission as to what they think should be the Council size.  They have produced 
helpful guidance on how to prepare a submission on Council size and what matters should be 
considered.  The LGBCE will recommend a council size that, in its judgement,  
 
‘enables the council to take its decisions effectively, to discharge the business and 
responsibilities of the council successfully, and to provide for effective community leadership 
and representation’. 
 

5.6 The full guidance is available at the following link https://s3-eu-west-
2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/Council%20Size%20Submission%
20Guidance.pdf 

 
Ward Boundaries 
 

5.7 Until the Council Size question has been agreed it is not possible to determine the average 
number of electors per Council and therefore ward boundaries cannot be determined.  The 
question of ward boundaries will only come up at the second stage.   Once the Council Size has 
been agreed further submissions can be made by interested parties including the Council.  At Page 25

https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/Council%20Size%20Submission%20Guidance.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/Council%20Size%20Submission%20Guidance.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/Council%20Size%20Submission%20Guidance.pdf


 

that stage detailed analysis of all relevant information will help to determine the boundaries of 
the wards.   
 

5.8 The preparation of the submissions will require regular member engagement and it is therefore 
recommended that the Committee establish a Boundary Review Task and Finish Group to carry 
supported by relevant officers. The Task and Finish Group would prepare draft submissions 
which would then be considered by the full Committee before being referred to Council for 
approval and submission.   
 

5.9 It is recommended that the Task and Finish Group be composed of at least 5 members and that 
it is cross party and representative of a variety of wards in different parts of the area.   

 
5.10 It is recommended that the Committee approves the draft Terms of Reference of the Task and 

Finish Group as set out at Appendix B. 
 

5.11 The alternative choices are not to make a submission.  The LGBCE welcomes submissions as it 
helps them to understand the views of the Council.  The Boundary Review will happen whether 
or not the Council prepares a submission.   

 
6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 There are staffing implications in terms of the officer time required to support the review 

process. However, these requirements can be met with existing staff resources. 
 

6.1.2 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of the review process. 
 
6.2 Legal  

 
The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (‘the 2009 Act’) s56 
gives the LGBCE the power to review the electoral arrangements of all, or any, principal councils 
in England. 

 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from this report.  

 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1 There are no consultation implications arising from this report.   When the review is conducted 

by the LGBCE there will be extensive public engagement which will be carried out by the LGBCE 
not the Council.  The Council, individual members and residents can participate as consultees.   
 

6.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 
 

Page 26



 

6.5.1 The responsibilities of the Council in relation to the conduct of the Council’s response to the 
review sits with the Democracy and Standards Committee.  Further review can be carried out by 
all members when the report is submitted to full Council.   

 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 No climate or environmental impacts have been identified as arising from this report. 
 
6.7 Community Impact 

 
6.7.1 There are no direct community impacts arising from this report. However, any specific 

community impacts that arise from the review will be considered at the time that the preparation 
of the submission is made.   
 

7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 None. 
  

Page 27



 

APPENDIX B 
Democracy and Standards Committee 

 
Boundary Review Task and Finish Group 

 
DRAFT TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
In accordance with the review principles approved by the Democracy and Standards Committee: 

 
1. To consider, in conjunction with officers, the evidence in relation to Council Size and to have 

regard to the guidance from the LGBCE in relation to the preparation of the submission.  
 

2. To prepare, through officers, a draft submission on the issue of Council Size and to recommend 
a Council Size which is supported by the submission.   

 
3. To support the Commission in carrying out  consultation on Council Size. 
 
4. To consider, in conjunction with officers the evidence in relation to the ward boundaries and to 

have regard to relevant guidance from the LGBCE in relation to the preparation of the 
submission.   
 

5. To prepare, through officers, a draft submission on a pattern of ward boundaries and to which is 
supported by the submission.   

 
6. To support the Commission in carrying out  consultation on the ward boundaries. 

 
7. To support the implementation of the ward boundary review.   

 
 

 

Page 28



Ward - Towcester (SNC) Electors Variance
Polling 

Stations

Brackley 11783 20.66085945 7

Bugbrooke 9931 1.695917444 11

Deanshanger 9501 -2.707389826 11

Hackleton & Grange Park 10217 4.624628791 12

Middleton Cheney 9008 -7.755832813 12

Silverstone 10010 2.504897152 24

Towcester & Roade 11716 19.97476274 12

Ward - Northampton (NBC)

Abington & Phippsville 9620 -1.48880014 6

Billing & Rectory Farm 11057 13.22643834 8

Boothville & Parklands 8738 -10.52070017 7

Castle 10751 10.09292201 6

Dallington Spencer 8983 -8.01183905 5

Delapre & Rushmere 9240 -5.380094937 7

Duston East 9233 -5.451776683 6

Duston West & St Crispin 7802 -20.10557367 5

East Hunsbury & Shelfleys 9176 -6.035470903 5

Headlands 10359 6.078744215 6

Kingsthorpe North 9950 1.890482184 5

Kingsthorpe South 9454 -3.188681551 8

Nene Valley 8778 -10.11109019 6

Riverside Park 10139 3.825889333 6

Sixfields 11763 20.45605446 7

St George 8920 -8.656974766 6

Talavera 10058 2.996429126 6

Ward - Daventry (DDC)

Braunston & Crick 10088 3.30363661 11

Brixworth 9656 -1.120151159 20

Daventry East 8253 -15.48722116 7

Daventry West 9219 -5.595140176 6

Long Buckby 9071 -7.110697097 12

Moulton 10959 12.22289389 12

Woodford & Weedon 9294 -4.827121466 14

302727

Page 29



The total number of electors and councillors in each LA type result in considerable differences

 in representation ratios. 

Overall CDs have a ratio of 1,694 electors per councillor, UAs 2,564, LBs 2,745 and MDs the

 most electors per councillor at 3,307. 

There are wide differences within each type though: ratios in CDs range from 628 electors per 

councillor in Teesdale to 3,192 in Northampton; 

UAs range from 1,039 in Rutland to 4,049 in Bristol, LBs from 1,826 in Kensington to 3,760 

in Bromley; and MDs from 1,732 in Knowsley to 5,290 in Birmingham. 

LAs also vary considerably in size in terms of both numbers of electors (in 2005 from 20,083 to 

710,349) and councillors (from 24 to 120). 

The Electoral Commission accept these differences as being the result of the historical 

development of political structures in England and acknowledge 

such differences are largely beyond their control (Electoral Commission, 2005a).

2009 Figures

Type of Authority Ratio

CDs = Districts 1694

Uas = Unitaries 2564

LBs = London Boroughs 2745

MDs = Metropolitan Districts 3307

Bristol

WNC Ratio

93 Councillors 3255

Page 30


	Agenda
	4 Constitution Review
	5 Statistics - Code of Conduct Arrangements
	6 Local Government Boundary Review
	Appendix -Ward Electoral and Polling Station info


